
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

ROBERT E. PRIMUS, in his official capacity, 

395 E Street, SW 

Washington, D.C. 20423, 

 

Plaintiff, 

  

v. 

 

DONALD J. TRUMP, in his official capacity 

as President of the United States, 

1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

Washington, D.C. 20500, 

 

PATRICK J. FUCHS, in his official capacity as 

Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, 

 

and 

 

SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BOARD, 

395 E Street, SW 

Washington, D.C. 20423, 

 

Defendants. 

 

  

 

Case No. 1:25-cv-03521 

 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

FOR DECLARATORY AND 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. On August 27, 2025, Defendant Donald J. Trump removed Plaintiff Robert E. 

Primus from his position as a member of the Surface Transportation Board (“STB” or the “Board”). 

President Trump did so absent any showing of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in 

office. And he removed Mr. Primus, as opposed to other STB members, because of Mr. Primus’s 

race. Mr. Primus’s removal thus violated both the statutory protections that serve to safeguard the 
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STB’s independence, under 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3), and Mr. Primus’s constitutional right to equal 

protection under the law.  

2. For almost 150 years, Congress has recognized the need for an independent, 

ideologically balanced entity to oversee the economic regulation of railroads and other interstate 

land and water transportation. The STB is the successor of the Interstate Commerce Commission 

(“ICC”). In 1887, Congress created the ICC, the first independent agency, to more effectively 

regulate the railroad monopolies. Congress protected the Commissioners from presidential 

removal except in cases of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office. Interstate 

Commerce Act, Pub. L. No. 49-41, § 11, 24 Stat. 379, 383 (1887). When the STB was created in 

1995 to replace the ICC, the same protections carried over, and STB members continue to be 

removable only for “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” 49 U.S.C. 

§ 1301(b)(3). 

3.  Congress also ensured that Board members would have relevant expertise and 

diverse viewpoints by requiring that no more than three of its five members come from the same 

political party, at least three members have “professional standing and demonstrated knowledge” 

of issues of transportation or regulation, and at least two have experience in the private sector. Id. 

§ 1301(b). This structure does not, however, prevent the President from shaping the composition 

and priorities of the Board. The President has the power to appoint new members to the Board 

with the advice and consent of the Senate. Id. § 1301(b)(1). And he retains control over the 

designation of a chairman to lead the Board. Id. § 1301(c)(1).  

4. The STB’s structure, mission, and functions, along with Board members’ five-year 

terms, demonstrate Congress’s intent to provide the Board with continuity, stability, and insulation 

from political pressure exerted by the President. Because the Board members perform 
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predominantly quasi-judicial and quasi-legislative functions and do not exercise substantial or 

considerable executive power, the restrictions on the President’s authority to remove members at 

will are constitutional.  

5. Mr. Primus has served on the STB since January 7, 2021, and his current five-year 

term expires on December 31, 2027. 

6. When Defendant Trump removed Mr. Primus, he did not identify any reason, let 

alone one that satisfies the statutory requirement of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance 

in office. Therefore, Plaintiff Primus’s removal was illegal under the STB’s governing statute. 

Defendants Fuchs and Surface Transportation Board have prevented Plaintiff Primus from 

performing his duties as a member in the wake of his removal.  

7. Defendant Trump’s illegal removal of Mr. Primus, as carried out by Defendants 

Fuchs and STB, has significant and damaging consequences for the work of the Board and its 

regulation of interstate transportation.  

8. Defendant Trump’s removal of Mr. Primus further violated Mr. Primus’s 

constitutional rights under the Fifth Amendment. The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause 

guarantees the federal government will provide all people with equal protection under the law. 

Included within the ambit of these rights is a protection against discrimination in employment 

decisions. President Trump violated Mr. Primus’s Fifth Amendment rights by removing him from 

his Board position, at least in part, because of Mr. Primus’s race. 

9. Mr. Primus was the only Black member of the STB. Mr. Primus was removed as 

opposed to similarly situated members of the Board in part because of his race.  

10. Mr. Primus’s status as a Democrat cannot be the sole reason President Trump 

removed him because, at the time of the removal, the Board included a white Democrat, Karen 
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Hedlund, who was not removed. In addition, there was a vacant seat on the Board that would have 

allowed President Trump to ensure Republican control of the Board and STB’s priorities without 

removing Mr. Primus. 

11. When he removed Mr. Primus, President Trump offered no reason for his decision. 

Any post-hoc, non-discriminatory reason would represent a mere pretextual effort to cover up the 

impermissible role race played in Mr. Primus’s termination. 

12. This choice—to remove the Black member of the Board without explanation while 

leaving in place a similarly situated white member and an unfilled vacancy—fits within a pattern 

of Trump Administration removals of high-level Black officials in the federal government, 

including Senate-confirmed members of independent Commissions. Consistently, when President 

Trump has removed Black Senate-confirmed appointees, he has either nominated a non-Black 

individual for their replacement or has not formally replaced them at all. This trend has mirrored 

President Trump’s consistent messaging criticizing diversity and inclusion and his clear and 

demonstrable emphasis on hiring white people.  

13. Mr. Primus seeks declaratory relief against all Defendants and injunctive relief 

against Defendants Fuchs and STB to enable him to perform his duties as a Board member as a 

remedy for Defendants’ harmful and illegal actions. These remedies will help ensure that the STB 

can maintain its congressionally mandated independence and that Mr. Primus’s constitutional and 

statutory rights can be vindicated. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1361.  

15. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 
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PARTIES 

 

16. Plaintiff Robert E. Primus is a Board member of the STB. He was appointed during 

President Trump’s first term and confirmed by the Senate on September 16, 2020. Plaintiff Primus 

was confirmed by the Senate to a full term on the STB on December 20, 2022, for a term ending 

on December 31, 2027.  

17. Defendant Donald J. Trump is sued in his official capacity as President of the 

United States. Defendant Trump resides at 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, 

D.C. 20500.  

18. Defendant Patrick J. Fuchs is the Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board 

and is sued in his official capacity.  

19. Defendant Surface Transportation Board is an independent federal agency 

headquartered in Washington, D.C., at 395 E Street, SW, Washington, D.C. 20423. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 

20. The STB is an independent government agency tasked with the regulation of certain 

rail companies; motor carriers, brokers, and freight forwarders; pipeline carriers; and other 

transportation providers.  

21. The STB is a successor agency to the ICC. Congress created the ICC in 1887 as the 

first regulatory commission in the nation’s history. The Commission was a response to the 

substantial public need for interstate regulation of the railroad industry. The ICC originally was 

housed in the Department of Interior. But two years later after its creation, Congress made the 

Commission its own independent regulatory agency.  

22. Concerned by the politics related to regulating the railroad industry, Congress 

created the ICC to serve as an independent, bipartisan group of experts to adjudicate issues such 
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as reasonable shipping rates. Section 11 of the Interstate Commerce Act established the ICC as a 

five-member body that served five-year staggered terms, with each member nominated by the 

President and confirmed by the Senate. No more than three members could be from the same 

political party. Additionally, no member could be employed by or have a pecuniary interest in a 

common railroad carrier. The need for an independent body to adjudicate issues such as reasonable 

rate determinations remains today, particularly in a rail industry where competition is limited on 

certain routes.  

23. Congress also sought to ensure Commissioner independence by prohibiting the 

President’s power to remove a Commissioner except in cases of “inefficiency, neglect of duty,or 

malfeasance in office.” Interstate Commerce Act, § 11, 24 Stat. at 383.  

24. Congress also constructed the ICC as a quasi-judicial body that adjudicated matters 

such as the reasonableness of railroads and a quasi-legislative body that adopted rules. See, e.g., 

United States v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 293 U.S. 454, 460 (1935) (“Upon the Commission, were 

conferred, besides some strictly administrative powers, both quasi legislative and quasi judicial 

functions.”).  

25. Over time, Congress would extend the ICC’s role as economic regulator to other 

modes of interstate land and water transportation including motor carriers, water carriers, brokers, 

and freight forwarders.  

26. Congress modeled numerous independent regulatory agencies after the ICC. The 

Supreme Court has characterized these as “traditional independent agenc[ies], run by a 

multimember board with a diverse set of viewpoints and experiences.” Seila Law LLC v. CFPB, 

591 U.S. 197, 205–06 (2020) (cleaned up). Several of these agencies also have explicit provisions 
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limiting removal, using the “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office” language or 

similar language.  

27. In 1995, Congress passed the ICC Termination Act, which dissolved the ICC and 

created the Surface Transportation Board to perform most of the ICC’s prior functions regulating 

interstate transportation. Under the 1995 Act, the STB was housed within the Department of 

Transportation, but it retained many of the structural features of the ICC that are typical of an 

independent agency: a multimember and bipartisan board of experts, appointed by the President 

and confirmed with the advice and consent of the Senate, serving a fixed term, and subject to 

removal only for “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” ICC Termination Act 

of 1995 (the “1995 Act”), Pub. L. No. 104-88, § 701, 109 Stat. 803, 932–33 (1995). Congress, in 

authorizing the change, emphasized the independence of the STB within the Department of 

Transportation: ‘‘(c) INDEPENDENCE.—In the performance of their functions, the members, 

employees, and other personnel of the Board shall not be responsible to or subject to the 

supervision or direction of any officer, employee, or agent of any other part of the Department of 

Transportation.” Id. § 703(c), 109 Stat. at 934.  

28. Twenty years later, Congress passed the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015 (the “2015 Act”), Pub. L. No. 114-110, 129 Stat. 2228 (2015). 

Though the STB retained its original purpose and powers, the Board was taken out of the 

Department of Transportation and formally converted into an “independent establishment of the 

United States Government.” 49 U.S.C. § 1301(a).  

29. In the 2015 Act, Congress maintained the board structure that largely originated 

with the Interstate Commerce Act. The Board consists of five members “appointed by the 

President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate,” and “[n]ot more than 3 members may 
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be appointed from the same political party.” 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(1). At least three of the members 

must be “individuals with professional standing and demonstrated knowledge in the fields of 

transportation, transportation regulation, or economic regulation.” Id. § 1301(b)(2). At least two 

of the members must be “individuals with professional or business experience (including 

agriculture) in the private sector.” Id.  

30. The members serve five-year terms. Id. § 1301(b)(3). STB terms are staggered to 

avoid overlaps in appointments. When a member’s term ends, the member may continue to serve, 

for up to a year, until a successor is appointed and qualified. Id. § 1301(b)(3).  

31. The President may only “remove a member for inefficiency, neglect of duty, or 

malfeasance in office.” Id.  

32. The President designates a Chairman of the Board from among its members. Id. 

§ 1301(c)(1). The Chairman is charged with administering the Board, with duties including the 

appointment and supervision of Board officers and employees and supervision of the expenditure 

of Board funds allocated for major programs and purposes. Id. § 1301(c)(2). The Board’s vice 

chairmanship rotates among the members on an annual basis.  

33. The Board describes itself as “the federal agency that is charged with the economic 

regulation of various modes of surface transportation, primarily freight rail. The agency has 

jurisdiction over railroad rate, practice, and service issues and rail restructuring transactions, 

including mergers, line sales, line construction, and line abandonments. The STB also has 

jurisdiction over certain passenger rail matters, the intercity bus industry, non-energy pipelines, 

household goods carriers’ tariffs, and rate regulation of non-contiguous domestic water 

transportation.” STB, About STB, https://perma.cc/W993-8HHJ.  
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34. The STB fosters a national freight rail network that provides efficient and reliable 

service to shippers that are a pillar of America’s economy. The STB’s work—including approving 

new rail lines and encouraging better operating methods—spur economic growth nationwide and 

benefit railroads, shippers, and consumers alike. 

35. Consistent with its status as a traditional independent agency, the STB primarily 

exercises quasi-judicial functions as an adjudicator. 

36. Under the governing statute, the Board holds adjudicatory proceedings that 

originate from a complaint or the Board’s own initiative. The proceedings include testimony and 

written and oral submissions. For each proceeding, the Board issues a written report that is akin to 

a judicial opinion in that it “shall include the findings, conclusions and the order of the Board and, 

if damages are awarded, the findings of fact supporting the award.” 49 U.S.C. § 1306(a). 

Additionally, Congress gave the Board the authority to issue regulations to carry out its work. Id. 

§ 1321(a).  

37. The STB also exercises quasi-legislative functions through rulemaking and issuing 

reports. It exercises executive functions only in the discharge of these quasi-judicial and quasi-

legislative functions. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

38.  President Trump nominated Plaintiff Robert Primus to fill a vacancy on the STB 

as a Democratic member on July 29, 2020. The Senate confirmed Mr. Primus on November 18, 

2020, and he was sworn in on January 7, 2021. He served as Vice Chairman from February 2021 

to February 2022. Mr. Primus was then nominated by President Biden on June 22, 2022, for a full 

five-year Board term and was confirmed by the Senate on December 20, 2022. He was sworn in 

for the five-year term on January 12, 2023. As designated by President Biden, Mr. Primus served 
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as Chairman of the Board from May 2024 until January 2025. Mr. Primus’s term as an STB 

member expires on December 31, 2027.  

39. Prior to his appointment as an STB member, Mr. Primus had a long and 

distinguished career in policy and public service. Between 1991 and 2020, Mr. Primus served on 

the staff of seven members of Congress, including as a legislative assistant, legislative director, 

senior advisor, and chief of staff. Mr. Primus advised Representatives on issues relating to 

transportation, health care, and national security. He worked for sixteen years as Chief of Staff for 

Representative Michael Capuano of Massachusetts, who served on the House Committee on 

Transportation and Infrastructure and was ranking member on the Subcommittee on Railroads, 

Pipelines, and Hazardous Materials. Mr. Primus also spent four years between 1995 and 1999 as 

a lobbyist with Van Scoyoc Associates, where he represented and advised firms on transportation, 

appropriations, and national security.  

40. On August 27, 2025, Mr. Primus attended an Amtrak event unveiling new 

highspeed Acela trains. After he returned home, he noticed his office mobile phone had stopped 

working. After trying unsuccessfully to reboot his phone and contact the STB’s IT department, he 

checked his personal email and saw an email from Mary Sprowls, a member of the White House 

Presidential Personnel Office, that had been sent at 5:03 p.m. on that date. The entire body of the 

email reads as follows:  

Dear Mr. Primus,  

 

On behalf of President Donald J. Trump, I am writing to inform you that your position as 

a member of the Surface Transportation Board is terminated, effective immediately.  

 

Thank you for your service.  

 

Mary Sprowls  

Presidential Personnel Office  

The White House  
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As the email reflects, Mr. Primus was not removed for any stated reason at all, much less 

inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  

41. Defendants Fuchs and STB cut off Mr. Primus’s access to STB systems, email, and 

offices on August 27, 2025, and Mr. Primus has not been able to perform his duties as a Board 

member since that date. 

42. Mr. Primus is a Black man. At the time of his removal from the STB there were 

three other members on the Board: Defendant Chairman Patrick J. Fuchs and Members Michelle 

A. Schultz and Karen J. Hedlund. Fuchs, Schultz, and Hedlund are all white. Fuchs and Schultz 

are Republican members. Hedlund is a Democratic member. All three remain current members of 

the Board. 

43. Mr. Primus’s removal from the STB cannot be explained by the fact that Mr. Primus 

is a Democrat and President Trump might have wanted to exert Republican control over the Board. 

At the time of Mr. Primus’s removal, there was another Democratic member serving on the Board: 

Member Karen J. Hedlund. Member Hedlund was nominated for a position on the STB by 

President Biden and took her oath of office on January 3, 2022. Member Hedlund’s term on the 

Board is already set to expire on December 31, 2025, a mere four months after Mr. Primus’s 

removal. Member Hedlund’s position is directly comparable to Mr. Primus’s: she shares the same 

position, authorities, and duties as other members of the STB, and she is, like all other members, 

subject to removal only by the President for inefficiency, neglect, or malfeasance in office. 49 

U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3). President Trump thus had two non-discriminatory ways he could have 

exerted Republican control over the Board without removing Mr. Primus. First, he could have 

removed Ms. Hedlund. Second, he could have nominated a Republican to the unfilled vacancy, 

which he did subsequently.  
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44. Mr. Primus was the first Black chairman in the history of the STB. His removal 

was also the first time that a sitting member of the STB has been removed in the history of the 

Board and its predecessor, the ICC.  

45. Mr. Primus’s firing fits within a pattern of the Trump Administration 

disproportionately removing Black government officials, and particularly presidentially appointed 

and Senate-confirmed Board members of independent multimember agencies. Based on available 

data on the Trump Administration’s firings and appointments, since the beginning of President 

Trump’s second term in office, approximately 75 percent of Black federal officials leading 

multimember agencies have been removed from office. In contrast, only approximately 27 percent 

of white federal officials on multimember agencies have been removed. 

46. President Trump has removed or attempted to remove six Black members of multi-

member agencies—Mr. Primus, Alvin Brown of the National Transportation Safety Board, 

Gwynne Wilcox of the National Labor Relations Board, Charlotte Burrows of the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission, Travis LeBlanc of the Privacy and Civil Liberties 

Oversight Board, and Lisa Cook of the Federal Reserve. Out of this group, President Trump has 

nominated a replacement for only one—John DeLeeuw, a white man, to replace Alvin Brown.  

47. The removal of Mr. Primus and other Black independent agency board 

commissioners reflects a broader pattern across the government of President Trump removing 

high-level Black officials. On May 8, 2025, he removed Carla Hayden, a Black woman, as the 

Librarian of Congress. On February 21, 2025, he removed Gen. Charles Q. Brown, Jr., a Black 

man, as the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. In General Brown’s case, President Trump 

replaced him with Lieutenant General Dan Caine, a white man, who did not have the statutory 
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requirement of status as a five-star general and could serve only because the President waived that 

requirement.  

48. President Trump and high government officials have made several public 

statements indicating that he and his Administration are seeking to remove people of color 

throughout the federal government, including: 

49. President Trump’s statement on March 4, 2025, that “[w]e have to end the tyranny 

of so-called diversity, equity, and inclusion policies all across the entire federal government.” 

50. The White House press release on March 4, 2025, stating President Trump has 

“declared an end to lower standards in the name of discriminatory ‘diversity, equity, and inclusion’ 

(DEI) initiatives.” 

51. President Trump’s statement on March 18, 2025, that “[w]e will terminate every 

diversity, equity, and inclusion program across the entire federal government.”  

52. President Trump’s claim on April 26, 2025, that he “ended all of the lawless so-

called diversity, equity, and inclusion bullshit. All across the entire federal government and the 

private sector.”  

53. In some of his firings of Black officials, White House representatives have made 

statements explicitly linking the choice to remove the individual to their relationship to ideas of 

diversity and inclusion. After Mr. Trump terminated Ms. Hayden as Librarian of Congress, the 

White House Press Secretary referenced the “quite concerning things that she had done at the 

Library of Congress in pursuit of DEI” in explaining the decision on May 5, 2025. Before his 

appointment, Secretary of Defense Pete Hegseth suggested that General Brown had obtained his 

appointment because of his race and stated that General Brown needed to be fired because of his 

commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion.  
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54. Under President Trump, the Executive Branch has also at times made a clear and 

demonstrable emphasis on hiring white men. See, e.g., Meryl Kornfield, Labor Department Social 

Media Campaign Depicts a White Male Workforce, Wash. Post (Nov. 7, 2025), 

https://perma.cc/J3EX-H3SQ (documenting Department of Labor workforce posters featuring 

almost exclusively white men).  

55. More generally, Black officials and Black employees across the federal government 

have been removed from their jobs at disproportionate rates. See David Smith, Trump Has 

Assembled the Least Diverse U.S. Government This Century, Study Shows, The Guardian (Nov. 21, 

2025, 8:00 PM EST), https://perma.cc/H325-HXRH ; Elisabeth Bumiller & Erica L. Green, Trump 

Fires Black Officials from an Overwhelmingly White Administration, N.Y. Times (Oct. 8, 2025), 

https://perma.cc/2DBG-3XFH; Erica Green, In Trump’s Federal Work Force Cuts, Black Women 

Are Among the Hardest Hit, N.Y. Times (Aug. 31, 2025), https://perma.cc/QVG9-F7AM; J. David 

McSwane, Dismissed by DEI: Trump’s Purge Made Black Women With Stable Federal Jobs an 

‘Easy Target’, ProPublica (June 4, 2025, 10:40 AM), https://perma.cc/6WTN-RGBX; Mitchell 

Hartman, Government Job Cuts Have Disproportionate Effect on Black Federal Workers, 

Marketplace (May 21, 2025), https://perma.cc/EFY4-V3CW. 

56. Additionally, in the Trump Administration’s first 200 days, only two percent of all 

of President Trump’s Senate-approved appointees have been Black individuals. Bumiller & Green, 

supra. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 

COUNT I 

 

Ultra Vires Action in violation of the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015 

49 U.S.C. § 1301 
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57. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing allegations as 

if fully set forth herein.  

58. Plaintiff Primus is entitled to retain his role as an STB member because he was 

appointed and confirmed to a term that was not scheduled to end until December 31, 2027.  

59. Defendant Trump lacked authority to remove Plaintiff Primus prior to the 

expiration of his term. Under the Surface Transportation Board Reauthorization Act of 2015, the 

President may only remove a member “for inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” 

49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3).  

60. The President violated 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3) by ordering the removal of Mr. 

Primus without a showing of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office. Defendants 

Fuchs and STB also violated 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3) by effectuating this removal and preventing 

Mr. Primus from exercising his duties as an STB member.  

61. There is a substantial and continuing controversy between Plaintiff Primus and the 

Defendants, and a declaration of rights under the Declaratory Judgment Act is both necessary and 

appropriate to establish that Mr. Primus is a member of the STB.  

62. Injunctive relief against Defendants Fuchs and STB is necessary and appropriate to 

permit Mr. Primus to perform his duties as a Board member. 

COUNT II 

 

Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause 

 

63. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing allegations as 

if fully set forth herein. 

64. The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause forbids the federal government from 

denying individuals equal protection of the laws and creates a constitutional right to be free from 
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illegal discrimination in employment perpetrated by the federal government, Davis v. Passman, 

442 U.S. 228, 242–44 (1979).  

65. As a Black person, Mr. Primus is in a protected class. His removal is an adverse 

employment action, and he was treated differently from similarly situated people, the other 

members of the Board, and particularly the white Democratic member.  

66. President Trump has not offered a non-discriminatory reason for his choice to 

remove Mr. Primus.  

67. Even if the Defendants assert a non-discriminatory reason, any purported non-

discriminatory reason is pretextual, and race was at least in part the reason for removing Mr. 

Primus. As discussed above, Mr. Primus’s removal is part of larger pattern of President Trump 

and his Administration removing Black officials and employees because of their race.  

68. This Court has equitable power to remedy the substantial and continuing 

controversy arising from Mr. Primus’s removal by declaring it a violation of the Fifth Amendment.  

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

(a) Declare that the removal of Plaintiff Robert E. Primus as a member of the Surface 

Transportation Board was unlawful, in violation of the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015, 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3); that Plaintiff Primus remains a 

member of the STB, having been appointed by the President and confirmed by the 

Senate to a term ending on December 31, 2027; and that he cannot be removed by the 

President prior to the expiration of his term absent a showing of inefficiency, neglect 

of duty, or malfeasance in office;  
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(b) Declare that the removal of Plaintiff Robert E. Primus as a member of the Surface 

Transportation Board was unlawful, in violation of the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. 

Constitution;  

(c) Enjoin Defendants Fuchs and STB from blocking Plaintiff Primus’s access to his office 

or in any way treating Plaintiff Primus as having been removed, from impeding in any 

way his ability to fulfill his duties as a member of the STB, and from denying or 

obstructing his authority or access to any benefits or resources of the office;  

(d) Direct Defendants Fuchs and STB and their subordinates, agents, and employees to 

provide Plaintiff Primus with access to the necessary government facilities and 

equipment so that he may carry out his duties during his term as a member of the STB;  

(e) Issue a writ of mandamus ordering Defendants Fuchs and STB to refrain from blocking 

Plaintiff Primus’s access to his office or in any way treating Plaintiff Primus as having 

been removed, from impeding in any way his ability to fulfill his duties as a member 

of the STB, from denying or obstructing his authority or access to any benefits or 

resources of the office, and requiring them to provide Plaintiff Primus with access to 

the necessary government facilities and equipment so that he may carry out his duties 

during his term as a member of the STB; and  

(f) Grant any other relief this Court deems appropriate. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

ROBERT E. PRIMUS, in his official capacity, 

395 E Street, SW 

Washington, D.C. 20423, 

 

Plaintiff, 

  

vs. 

 

DONALD J. TRUMP, in his official capacity 

as President of the United States, 

1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 

Washington, D.C. 20500, 

 

PATRICK J. FUCHS, in his official capacity as 

Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board, 

 

and 

 

SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BOARD, 

395 E Street, SW 

Washington, D.C. 20423, 

 

Defendants. 

 

  

 

Case No. 1:25-cv-03521 

 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

FOR DECLARATORY AND 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. On August 27, 2025, Defendant Donald J. Trump removed Plaintiff Robert E. 

Primus from his position as a member of the Surface Transportation Board (“STB” or the “Board”). 

President Trump did so absent a any showing of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in 

office in violation of. And he removed Mr. Primus, as opposed to other STB members, because of 

Mr. Primus’s race. Mr. Primus’s removal thus violated both the statutory protections that serve to 
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safeguard the STB’s independence, under 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3), and Mr. Primus’s constitutional 

right to equal protection under the law.  

2. For almost 150 years, Congress has recognized the need for an independent, 

ideologically balanced entity to oversee the economic regulation of railroads and other interstate 

land and water transportation. The STB is the successor of the Interstate Commerce Commission 

(“ICC”). In 1887, Congress created the ICC, the first independent agency, to more effectively 

regulate the railroad monopolies. Congress protected the Commissioners from presidential 

removal except in cases of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office. Interstate 

Commerce Act, Pub. L. No. 49-41, § 11, 24 Stat. 379, 383 (1887). When the STB was created in 

1995 to replace the ICC, the same protections carried over, and STB members continue to be 

removable only for “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” 49 U.S.C. 

§ 1301(b)(3). 

3.  Congress also sought out ensured that Board members would have relevant 

expertise and diverse viewpoints on the board by requiring that no more than three of its five 

members come from the same political party, at least three members have “professional standing 

and demonstrated knowledge” of issues of transportation or regulation, and at least two have 

experience in the private sector. Id. § 1301(b). This structure does not, however, prevent the 

President from shaping the composition and priorities of the Board. The President has the power 

to appoint new members to the Board with the advice and consent of the Senate. Id. § 1301(b)(1). 

And he retains control over the designation of a chairman to lead the Board. Id. § 1301(c)(1).  

4. The STB’s structure, mission, and functions, along with the Board members’ five-

year terms set for members, demonstrate Congress’s intent to provide the Board with continuity, 

stability, and insulation from political pressure exerted by the President. Because the Board 
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members perform predominantly quasi-judicial and quasi-legislative functions and do not exercise 

substantial or considerable executive power, the restrictions on the President’s authority to remove 

members at will are constitutional.  

5. Mr. Primus has served on the STB since January 7, 2021, and his current five-year 

term expires on December 31, 2027. 

6. When Defendant Trump removed Mr. Primus, he did not identify a any reason, let 

alone one that satisfies the statutory requirement of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance 

in office. Therefore, Plaintiff Primus’s removal was illegal under the STB’s governing statute. 

Defendants Fuchs and Surface Transportation Board have prevented Plaintiff Primus from 

performing his duties as a member in the wake of his removal.  

7. Defendant Trump’s illegal removal of Mr. Primus, as carried out by Defendants 

Fuchs and STB, has significant and damaging consequences for the work of the Board and its 

regulation of interstate transportation.  

8. Defendant Trump’s removal of Mr. Primus further violated Mr. Primus’s 

constitutional rights under the Fifth Amendment. The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause 

guarantees the federal government will provide all people with equal protection under the law. 

Included within the ambit of these rights is a protection against discrimination in employment 

decisions. President Trump violated Mr. Primus’s Fifth Amendment rights by removing him from 

his Board position, at least in part, because of Mr. Primus’s race. 

9. Mr. Primus was the only Black member of the STB. Mr. Primus was removed as 

opposed to similarly situated members of the Board in part because of his race.  

10. Mr. Primus’s status as a Democrat cannot be the sole reason President Trump 

removed him because, at the time of the removal, the Board included a white Democrat, Karen 
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Hedlund, who was not removed. In addition, there was a vacant seat on the Board that would have 

allowed President Trump to ensure Republican control of the Board and STB’s priorities without 

removing Mr. Primus. 

11. When he removed Mr. Primus, President Trump offered no reason for his decision. 

Any post-hoc, non-discriminatory reason would represent a mere pretextual effort to cover up the 

impermissible role race played in Mr. Primus’s termination. 

12. This choice—to remove the Black member of the Board without explanation while 

leaving in place a similarly situated white member and an unfilled vacancy—fits within a pattern 

of Trump Administration removals of high-level Black officials in the federal government, 

including Senate-confirmed members of independent Commissions. Consistently, when President 

Trump has removed Black Senate-confirmed appointees, he has either nominated a non-Black 

individual for their replacement or has not formally replaced them at all. This trend has mirrored 

President Trump’s consistent messaging criticizing diversity and inclusion and his clear and 

demonstrable emphasis on hiring white people.  

13. Mr. Primus seeks declaratory relief against all Defendants and injunctive relief 

against Defendants Fuchs and STB to enable him to perform his duties as a Board member as a 

remedy for Defendants’ harmful and illegal actions. These remedies will help ensure that the STB 

can maintain its congressionally mandated independence and that Mr. Primus’s constitutional and 

statutory rights can be vindicated. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1361.  

15. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 
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PARTIES 

 

16. Plaintiff Robert E. Primus is a Board member of the STB. He was appointed during 

President Trump’s first term and confirmed by the Senate on September 16, 2020. Plaintiff Primus 

was confirmed by the Senate to a full term on the STB on December 20, 2022, for a term ending 

on December 31, 2027.  

17. Defendant Donald J. Trump is sued in his official capacity as President of the 

United States. Defendant Trump resides at 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, 

D.C. 20500.  

18. Defendant Patrick J. Fuchs is the Chairman of the Surface Transportation Board 

and is sued in his official capacity.  

19. Defendant Surface Transportation Board is an independent federal agency 

headquartered in Washington, D.C., at 395 E Street, SW, Washington, D.C. 20423. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 

20. The STB is an independent government agency tasked with the regulation of certain 

rail companies; motor carriers, brokers, and freight forwarders; pipeline carriers; and other 

transportation providers.  

21. The STB is a successor agency to the ICC. Congress created the ICC in 1887 as the 

first regulatory commission in the nation’s history. The Commission was a response to the 

substantial public need for interstate regulation of the railroad industry. The ICC originally was 

housed in the Department of Interior. But two years later after its creation, Congress made the 

Commission its own independent regulatory agency.  

22. Concerned by the politics related to regulating the railroad industry, Congress 

created the ICC to serve as an independent, bipartisan group of experts to adjudicate issues such 

Case 1:25-cv-03521-DLF     Document 15-1     Filed 12/04/25     Page 5 of 18



 

 

 6 

as reasonable shipping rates. Section 11 of the Interstate Commerce Act established the ICC as a 

five-member body that served five-year staggered terms, with each member nominated by the 

President and confirmed by the Senate. No more than three members could be from the same 

political party. Additionally, no member could be employed by or have a pecuniary interest in a 

common railroad carrier. The need for an independent body to adjudicate issues such as reasonable 

rate determinations remains today, particularly in a rail industry where competition is limited on 

certain routes.  

23. Congress also sought to ensure Commissioner independence by limiting 

prohibiting the President’s power to remove a Commissioner to except in cases of “inefficiency, 

neglect of duty,or malfeasance in office.” Interstate Commerce Act, Pub. L. No. 49-41, § 11, 24 

Stat. at 379, 383 (1887).  

24. Congress also constructed the ICC as a quasi-judicial body that adjudicated matters 

such as the reasonableness of railroads and a quasi-legislative body that adopted rules. See, e.g., 

United States v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 293 U.S. 454, 460 (1935) (“Upon the Commission, were 

conferred, besides some strictly administrative powers, both quasi legislative and quasi judicial 

functions.”).  

25. Over time, Congress would extend the ICC’s role as economic regulator to other 

modes of interstate land and water transportation including motor carriers, water carriers, brokers, 

and freight forwarders.  

26. Congress modeled numerous independent regulatory agencies after the ICC. The 

Supreme Court has characterized these as “traditional independent agenc[ies], run by a 

multimember board with a diverse set of viewpoints and experiences.” Seila Law LLC v. CFPB, 

591 U.S. 197, 205–06 (2020) (cleaned up). Several of these agencies also have explicit provisions 
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limiting removal, using the “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office” language or 

similar language.  

27. In 1995, Congress passed the ICC Termination Act, which dissolved the ICC and 

created the Surface Transportation Board to perform most of the ICC’s prior functions regulating 

interstate transportation. Under the 1995 Act, the STB was housed within the Department of 

Transportation, but it retained many of the structural features of the ICC that are typical of an 

independent agency: a multimember and bipartisan board of experts, appointed by the President 

and confirmed with the advice and consent of the Senate, serving a fixed term, and subject to 

removal only for “inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” ICC Termination Act 

of 1995 (the “1995 Act”), Pub. L. No. 104-88, § 701, 109 Stat. 803, 932–33 (1995). Congress, in 

authorizing the change, emphasized the independence of the STB within the Department of 

Transportation: ‘‘(c) INDEPENDENCE.—In the performance of their functions, the members, 

employees, and other personnel of the Board shall not be responsible to or subject to the 

supervision or direction of any officer, employee, or agent of any other part of the Department of 

Transportation.” Id. § 703(c), 109 Stat. at 934.  

28. Twenty years later, Congress passed the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015 (the “2015 Act”), Pub. L. No. 114-110, 129 Stat. 2228 (2015). 

Though the STB retained its original purpose and powers, the Board was taken out of the 

Department of Transportation and formally converted into an “independent establishment of the 

United States Government.” 49 U.S.C. § 1301(a).  

29. In the 2015 Act, Congress maintained a the board structure that largely originated 

with the Interstate Commerce Act. The Board consists of five members “appointed by the 

President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate,” and “[n]ot more than 3 members may 
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be appointed from the same political party.” 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(1). At least three of the members 

must be “individuals with professional standing and demonstrated knowledge in the fields of 

transportation, transportation regulation, or economic regulation.” Id. § 1301(b)(2). At least two 

of the members must be “individuals with professional or business experience (including 

agriculture) in the private sector.” Id.  

30. The members serve five-year terms. Id. § 1301(b)(3). STB terms are staggered to 

avoid overlaps in appointments. When a member’s term ends, the member may continue to serve, 

for up to a year, until a successor is appointed and qualified. Id. § 1301(b)(3).  

31. The President may only “remove a member for inefficiency, neglect of duty, or 

malfeasance in office.” Id.  

32. The President designates a Chairman to of the Board from among its members. Id. 

§ 1301(c)(1). The Chairman is charged with administering the Board, with duties including the 

appointment and supervision of Board officers and employees and supervision of the expenditure 

of Board funds allocated for major programs and purposes. Id. § 1301(c)(2). The Board’s vice 

chairmanship rotates among the members on an annual basis.  

33. The Board describes itself as “the federal agency that is charged with the economic 

regulation of various modes of surface transportation, primarily freight rail. The agency has 

jurisdiction over railroad rate, practice, and service issues and rail restructuring transactions, 

including mergers, line sales, line construction, and line abandonments. The STB also has 

jurisdiction over certain passenger rail matters, the intercity bus industry, non-energy pipelines, 

household goods carriers’ tariffs, and rate regulation of non-contiguous domestic water 

transportation.” STB, About STB, https://perma.cc/W993-8HHJ.  
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34. The STB fosters a national freight rail network that provides efficient and reliable 

service to shippers that are a pillar of America’s economy. The STB’s work—including approving 

new rail lines and encouraging better operating methods—spur economic growth nationwide and 

benefit railroads, shippers, and consumers alike. 

35. Consistent with its status as a traditional independent agency, the STB primarily 

exercises quasi-judicial functions as an adjudicator. 

36. Under the governing statute, the Board holds adjudicatory proceedings that 

originate from a complaint or the Board’s own initiative. The proceedings include testimony and 

written and oral submissions. For each proceeding, the Board issues a written report that is akin to 

a judicial opinion in that it “shall include the findings, conclusions and the order of the Board and, 

if damages are awarded, the findings of fact supporting the award.” 4249 U.S.C. § 1306(a)(1). 

Additionally, Congress gave the Board the authority to issue regulations to carry out its work. Id. 

§ 1321(a)(1).  

37. The STB also exercises quasi-legislative functions through rulemaking and issuing 

reports. It exercises executive functions only in the discharge of these quasi-judicial and quasi-

legislative functions. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

38.  President Trump nominated Plaintiff Robert Primus to fill a vacancy on the STB 

as a Democratic member on July 29, 2020. The Senate confirmed Mr. Primus on November 18, 

2020, and he was sworn in on January 7, 2021. He served as Vice Chairman from February 2021 

to February 2022. Mr. Primus was then nominated by President Biden on June 22, 2022, for a full 

five-year Board term and was confirmed by the Senate on December 20, 2022. He was sworn in 

for the five-year term on January 12, 2023. As designated by President Biden, Mr. Primus served 
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as Chairman of the Board from May 2024 until January 2025. Mr. Primus’s term as an STB 

member expires on December 31, 2027.  

39. Prior to his appointment as an STB member, Mr. Primus had a long and 

distinguished career in policy and public service. Between 1991 and 2020, Mr. Primus served on 

the staff of seven members of Congress, including as a legislative assistant, legislative director, 

senior advisor, and chief of staff. Mr. Primus advised Representatives on issues relating to 

transportation, health care, and national security. He worked for sixteen years as Chief of Staff for 

Representative Michael Capuano of Massachusetts, who served on the House Committee on 

Transportation and Infrastructure and was ranking member on the Subcommittee on Railroads, 

Pipelines, and Hazardous Materials. Mr. Primus also spent four years between 1995 and 1999 as 

a lobbyist with Van Scoyoc Associates, where he represented and advised firms on transportation, 

appropriations, and national security.  

40. On August 27, 2025, Mr. Primus attended an Amtrak event unveiling new high-

speed highspeed Acela trains. After he returned home, he noticed his office mobile phone had 

stopped working. After trying unsuccessfully to reboot his phone and contact the STB’s IT 

department, he checked his personal email and saw an email from Mary Sprowls, a member of the 

White House Presidential Personnel Office, that had been sent at 5:03 p.m. on that date. The entire 

body of the email reads as follows:  

Dear Mr. Primus,  

 

On behalf of President Donald J. Trump, I am writing to inform you that your position as 

a member of the Surface Transportation Board is terminated, effective immediately.  

 

Thank you for your service.  

 

Mary Sprowls  

Presidential Personnel Office  

The White House  
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As the email reflects, Mr. Primus was not removed for any stated reason at all, much less 

inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.  

41. Defendants Fuchs and STB cut off Mr. Primus’s access to STB systems, email, and 

offices on August 27, 2025, and Mr. Primus has not been able to perform his duties as a Board 

member since that date. 

42. Mr. Primus is a Black man. At the time of his removal from the STB there were 

three other members on the Board: Defendant Chairman Patrick J. Fuchs and Members Michelle 

A. Schultz and Karen J. Hedlund. Fuchs, Schultz, and Hedlund are all white. Fuchs and Schultz 

are Republican members. Hedlund is a Democratic member. All three remain current members of 

the Board. 

43. Mr. Primus’s removal from the STB cannot be explained by the fact that Mr. Primus 

is a Democrat and President Trump might have wanted to exert Republican control over the Board. 

At the time of Mr. Primus’s removal, there was another Democratic member serving on the Board: 

Member Karen J. Hedlund. Member Hedlund was nominated for a position on the STB by 

President Biden and took her oath of office on January 3, 2022. Member Hedlund’s term on the 

Board is already set to expire on December 31, 2025, a mere four months after Mr. Primus’s 

removal. Member Hedlund’s position is directly comparable to Mr. Primus’s: she shares the same 

position, authorities, and duties as other members of the STB, and she is, like all other members, 

subject to removal only by the President for inefficiency, neglect, or malfeasance in office. 49 

U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3). President Trump thus had two non-discriminatory ways he could have 

exerted Republican control over the Board without removing Mr. Primus. First, he could have 

removed Ms. Hedlund. Second, he could have nominated a Republican to the unfilled vacancy, 

which he did subsequently.  
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44. Mr. Primus was the first Black chairman in the history of the STB. His removal 

was also the first time that a sitting member of the STB has been removed in the history of the 

Board and its predecessor, the ICC.  

45. Mr. Primus’s firing fits within a pattern of the Trump Administration 

disproportionately removing Black government officials, and particularly presidentially appointed 

and Senate-confirmed Board members of independent multimember agencies. Based on available 

data on the Trump Administration’s firings and appointments, since the beginning of President 

Trump’s second term in office, approximately 75 percent of Black federal officials leading 

multimember agencies have been removed from office. In contrast, only approximately 27 percent 

of white federal officials on multimember agencies have been removed. 

46. President Trump has removed or attempted to remove six Black members of multi-

member agencies—Mr. Primus, Alvin Brown of the National Transportation Safety Board, 

Gwynne Wilcox of the National Labor Relations Board, Charlotte Burrows of the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission, Travis LeBlanc of the Privacy and Civil Liberties 

Oversight Board, and Lisa Cook of the Federal Reserve. Out of this group, President Trump has 

nominated a replacement for only one—John DeLeeuw, a white man, to replace Alvin Brown.  

47. The removal of Mr. Primus and other Black independent agency board 

commissioners reflects a broader pattern across the government of President Trump removing 

high-level Black officials. On May 8, 2025, he removed Carla Hayden, a Black woman, as the 

Librarian of Congress. On February 21, 2025, he removed Gen. Charles Q. Brown, Jr., a Black 

man, as the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. In General Brown’s case, President Trump 

replaced him with Lieutenant General Dan Caine, a white man, who did not have the statutory 
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requirement of status as a five-star general and could serve only because the President waived that 

requirement.  

48. President Trump and high government officials have made several public 

statements indicating that he and his Administration are seeking to remove people of color 

throughout the federal government, including: 

49. President Trump’s statement on March 4, 2025, that “[w]e have to end the tyranny 

of so-called diversity, equity, and inclusion policies all across the entire federal government.” 

50. The White House press release on March 4, 2025, stating President Trump has 

“declared an end to lower standards in the name of discriminatory ‘diversity, equity, and inclusion’ 

(DEI) initiatives.” 

51. President Trump’s statement on March 18, 2025, that “[w]e will terminate every 

diversity, equity, and inclusion program across the entire federal government.”  

52. President Trump’s claim on April 26, 2025, that he “ended all of the lawless so-

called diversity, equity, and inclusion bullshit. All across the entire federal government and the 

private sector.”  

53. In some of his firings of Black officials, White House representatives have made 

statements explicitly linking the choice to remove the individual to their relationship to ideas of 

diversity and inclusion. After Mr. Trump terminated Ms. Hayden as Librarian of Congress, the 

White House Press Secretary referenced the “quite concerning things that she had done at the 

Library of Congress in pursuit of DEI” in explaining the decision on May 5, 2025. Before his 

appointment, Secretary of Defense Pete Hegseth suggested that General Brown had obtained his 

appointment because of his race and stated that General Brown needed to be fired because of his 

commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion.  
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54. Under President Trump, the Executive Branch has also at times made a clear and 

demonstrable emphasis on hiring white men. See, e.g., Meryl Kornfield, Labor Department Social 

Media Campaign Depicts a White Male Workforce, Wash. Post (Nov. 7, 2025), 

https://perma.cc/J3EX-H3SQ (documenting Department of Labor workforce posters featuring 

almost exclusively white men).  

55. More generally, Black officials and Black employees across the federal government 

have been removed from their jobs at disproportionate rates. See David Smith, Trump Has 

Assembled the Least Diverse U.S. Government This Century, Study Shows, The Guardian (Nov. 21, 

2025, 8:00 PM EST), https://perma.cc/H325-HXRH ; Elisabeth Bumiller & Erica L. Green, Trump 

Fires Black Officials from an Overwhelmingly White Administration, N.Y. Times (Oct. 8, 2025), 

https://perma.cc/2DBG-3XFH; Erica Green, In Trump’s Federal Work Force Cuts, Black Women 

Are Among the Hardest Hit, N.Y. Times (Aug. 31, 2025), https://perma.cc/QVG9-F7AM; J. David 

McSwane, Dismissed by DEI: Trump’s Purge Made Black Women With Stable Federal Jobs an 

‘Easy Target’, ProPublica (June 4, 2025, 10:40 AM), https://perma.cc/6WTN-RGBX; Mitchell 

Hartman, Government Job Cuts Have Disproportionate Effect on Black Federal Workers, 

Marketplace (May 21, 2025), https://perma.cc/EFY4-V3CW. 

56. Additionally, in the Trump Administration’s first 200 days, only two percent of all 

of President Trump’s Senate-approved appointees have been Black individuals. Bumiller & Green, 

supra. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 

COUNT I 

 

Ultra Vires Action in violation of the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015 

49 U.S.C. § 1301 
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57. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing allegations as 

if fully set forth herein.  

58. Plaintiff Primus is entitled to retain his role as an STB member because he was 

appointed and confirmed to a term that was not scheduled to end until December 31, 2027.  

59. Defendant Trump lacked authority to remove Plaintiff Primus prior to the 

expiration of his term. Under the Surface Transportation Board Reauthorization Act of 2015, the 

President may only remove a member “for inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office.” 

49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3).  

60. The President violated 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3) by ordering the removal of Mr. 

Primus without a showing of inefficiency, neglect of duty, or malfeasance in office. Defendants 

Fuchs and STB also violated 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3) by effectuating this removal and preventing 

Mr. Primus from exercising his duties as an STB member.  

61. There is a substantial and continuing controversy between Plaintiff Primus and the 

Defendants, and a declaration of rights under the Declaratory Judgment Act is both necessary and 

appropriate to establish that Mr. Primus is a member of the STB.  

62. Injunctive relief against Defendants Fuchs and STB is necessary and appropriate to 

permit Mr. Primus to perform his duties as a Board member. 

COUNT II 

 

Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause 

 

63. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing allegations as 

if fully set forth herein. 

64. The Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause forbids the federal government from 

denying individuals equal protection of the laws and creates a constitutional right to be free from 
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illegal discrimination in employment perpetrated by the federal government, Davis v. Passman, 

442 U.S. 228, 242–44 (1979).  

65. As a Black person, Mr. Primus is in a protected class. His removal is an adverse 

employment action, and he was treated differently from similarly situated people, the other 

members of the Board, and particularly the white Democratic member.  

66. President Trump has not offered a non-discriminatory reason for his choice to 

remove Mr. Primus.  

67. Even if the Defendants assert a non-discriminatory reason, any purported non-

discriminatory reason is pretextual, and race was at least in part the reason for removing Mr. 

Primus. As discussed above, Mr. Primus’s removal is part of larger pattern of President Trump 

and his Administration removing Black officials and employees because of their race.  

68. This Court has equitable power to remedy the substantial and continuing 

controversy arising from Mr. Primus’s removal by declaring it a violation of the Fifth Amendment.  

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

(a) Declare that the removal of Plaintiff Robert E. Primus as a member of the Surface 

Transportation Board was unlawful, in violation of the Surface Transportation Board 

Reauthorization Act of 2015, 49 U.S.C. § 1301(b)(3); that Plaintiff Primus remains a 

member of the STB, having been appointed by the President and confirmed by the 

Senate to a term ending on December 31, 2027; and that he cannot be removed by the 

President prior to the expiration of his term absent a showing of inefficiency, neglect 

of duty, or malfeasance in office;  
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(b) Declare that the removal of Plaintiff Robert E. Primus as a member of the Surface 

Transportation Board was unlawful, in violation of the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. 

Constitution;  

(c) Enjoin Defendants Fuchs and STB from blocking Plaintiff Primus’s access to his office 

or in any way treating Plaintiff Primus as having been removed, from impeding in any 

way his ability to fulfill his duties as a member of the STB, and from denying or 

obstructing his authority or access to any benefits or resources of the office;  

(d) Direct Defendants Fuchs and STB and their subordinates, agents, and employees to 

provide Plaintiff Primus with access to the necessary government facilities and 

equipment so that he may carry out his duties during his term as a member of the STB;  

(e) Issue a writ of mandamus ordering Defendants Fuchs and STB to refrain from blocking 

Plaintiff Primus’s access to his office or in any way treating Plaintiff Primus as having 

been removed, from impeding in any way his ability to fulfill his duties as a member 

of the STB, from denying or obstructing his authority or access to any benefits or 

resources of the office, and requiring them to provide Plaintiff Primus with access to 

the necessary government facilities and equipment so that he may carry out his duties 

during his term as a member of the STB; and  

(f) Grant any other relief this Court deems appropriate. 
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Dated: December 4 October 1, 2025  Respectfully submitted, 

  

/s/ Catherine M.A. Carroll Cynthia Liao  

Catherine M.A. Carroll (D.C. Bar No. 497890) 

Cynthia Liao (D.C. Bar No. 90036947) 

Elena Goldstein (D.C. Bar No. 90034087) 

Ross Snyder (D.C. Bar No. 90037922)* 

DEMOCRACY FORWARD 

FOUNDATION 

P.O. Box 34553 

Washington, D.C. 20043 

(202) 316-9057 808-1982 (Liao) 

ccarroll@democracyforward.org 

cliao@democracyforward.org 

 

Jon M. Greenbaum (D.C. Bar No. 489887)  

JUSTICE LEGAL STRATEGIES PLLC  

P.O. Box 27015  

Washington, D.C. 20038  

(202) 601-8678  

jgreenbaum@justicels.com  

 

Counsel for Plaintiff Robert E. Primus 

 

 *Application for admittance pending 
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